
 

Council Annual Meeting Agenda Published: Wednesday, 11 May 2022 
Thursday, 19 May 2022  

The cost of printing this doc pack: 
The carbon cost of producing this doc pack: 

The cost of posting this doc pack: 

Approx. £42.12 
Approx. 28.08 tonnes 
Approx. £22.62 

 

 

COUNCIL 
 

To all Members of Stroud District Council   Wednesday, 11 May 2022 
 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend the Annual Meeting of STROUD DISTRICT 
COUNCIL in the Council Chamber, Ebley Mill, Ebley Wharf, Stroud on THURSDAY, 19 
MAY 2022 at 7.00 pm 

 
Kathy O’Leary 

Chief Executive 
 

Please Note: The meeting is being held in the Council Chamber at Stroud District 
Council and will be streamed live on the Council’s YouTube Channel.  A recording of the 
meeting will be published onto the Council’s website.  The whole of the meeting will be 
recorded except where there are confidential or exempt items, which may need to be 
considered in the absence of press and public. 
 

If you wish to attend this meeting, please contact democratic.services@stroud.gov.uk. 
This is to ensure adequate seating is available in the Council Chamber. 

 

A G E N D A 
 
1.   CHAIR OF COUNCIL  

To elect a Chair of Council for the Civic Year 2022/23 
 

2.   VICE-CHAIR OF COUNCIL  
To elect a Vice-Chair of Council for the Civic Year 2022/23 

 
3.   APOLOGIES  

To receive apologies for absence. 
 

4.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
To receive declarations of interest. 

 
5.   MINUTES (Pages 3 - 14) 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 28 April 2022. 
 

6.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
To receive announcements from the Chair of Council, Leader of Council or Chief 
Executive. 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCeH_AmF0s-TShcYlM8Stweg
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@stroud.gov.uk


Council Annual Meeting  Agenda Published: Wednesday, 11 May 2022 
Thursday, 19 May 2022  

 

7.   LEADER AND DEPUTY LEADER (CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR OF STRATEGY & 
RESOURCES)  
To appoint the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council. 
 
Nominations received by Democratic Services from Group Leaders will be 
reported to or otherwise made at the Annual Meeting. 

 
8.   APPOINTMENT TO COMMITTEES  

To confirm the membership of each committee. 
 
In accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the allocations 
are as per the relevant 2021 AGM report. The 2022/23 nominations received by 
Democratic Services from Group Leaders will be reported to or otherwise made at 
the Annual Meeting. 

 
9.   APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEE CHAIRS AND VICE-CHAIRS  

To appoint the Chair and Vice-Chairs of the following committees:  
a. Audit & Standards Committee  
b. Community Services & Licensing Committee 
c. Development Control Committee  
d. Environment Committee  
e. Housing Committee  
 
Nominations received by Democratic Services from Group Leaders will be 
reported to or otherwise made at the Annual Meeting. 

 
10.   OTHER APPOINTMENTS  

a. To appoint one lead and one substitute Member representative for the 
following bodies which are led by Gloucestershire County Council:  

 
i. Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
ii. Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel  
iii. Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee  
iv. Gloucestershire Covid-19 Outbreak Engagement Board 

 
b. To appoint three Mental Health Champions (as per the Mental Health 
Challenge motion resolved by Council on 26 April 2018).  

 
c. To appoint 5 cross-party Members to the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
Working Group.  
 
d. Appointments to the Standards Sub-Committee. 
 
Nominations received by Democratic Services from Group Leaders will be 
reported to or otherwise made at the Annual Meeting. 

 
11.   LGA CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE REVISIT FEEDBACK REPORT 

(Pages 15 - 36) 
To inform members of the feedback from the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 
team, which revisited the Council between 8 and 10 March 2022. 

 
 



2021/22 

 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

COUNCIL 
 

28 April 2022 
 

7.00 - 9.55 pm 
 

Council Chamber 
 

Minutes 
 
Membership 
Councillor Steve Robinson (Chair) Councillor Trevor Hall (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Beki Aldam 
Councillor Paula Baker 
Councillor Martin Baxendale 
Councillor Natalie Bennett 
Councillor Catherine Braun 
Councillor Martin Brown 
Councillor Jason Bullingham 
Councillor Doina Cornell 
Councillor Gordon Craig 
Councillor Kate Crews 
Councillor Laurie Davies 
Councillor Jonathan Edmunds 
Councillor Christopher Evans 
Councillor Helen Fenton 
Councillor Lindsey Green 
Councillor Nicholas Housden 
Councillor Steve Hynd 
Councillor George James 
Councillor Julie Job 

Councillor John Jones 
Councillor Haydn Jones 
Councillor Norman Kay 
Councillor Robin Layfield 
Councillor Jenny Miles 
Councillor Loraine Patrick 
Councillor Martin Pearcy 
Councillor Keith Pearson 
Councillor Nigel Prenter 
Councillor Mattie Ross 
Councillor Mark Ryder 
Councillor Lucas Schoemaker 
Councillor Ashley Smith 
Councillor Nigel Studdert-Kennedy 
Councillor Haydn Sutton 
Councillor Brian Tipper 
Councillor Ken Tucker 
Councillor Chloe Turner 
Councillor Rich Wilsher 

Councillor Chris Brine 
Councillor Stephen Davies 

* 
* 

Councillor Jessie Hoskin 
Councillor Nick Hurst 

* 
* 

Councillor Katrina Davis 
Councillor Colin Fryer 

* 
* 

Councillor Chris Jockel 
Councillor Gill Oxley 

* 
* 

Councillor Victoria Gray * Councillor Tricia Watson * 

*= Absent  
 
Officers in Attendance 
Chief Executive 
Monitoring Officer 
Strategic Director of Resources 
Corporate Policy and Governance 

Manager 

Senior Democratic Services & Elections 
Officer 
Specialist Conservation Officer 
Senior Community Services Officer 

 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

CL.046 Apologies  
 
There were apologies from Councillors Brine, Stephen Davies, Trina Davis, Fryer, Gray, 
Hoskin, Hurst, Jockel, Mossman, Oxley, Watson. 
 
CL.047 Declaration of Interests  
 
There were none. 
 
CL.048 Announcements  
 
The Chair made the following announcements: 

 Confirmed that he had signed the Armed Forces Covenant on the 16 March 2022 
on behalf of Stroud District Council. The Armed Forces Champions and the 
Strategic Director of Communities would be considering forming a working group 
to include ex-service personnel. 

 Thanked the Officers of Stroud District Council and Gloucestershire County 
Council for their work for the Tour of Britain on the 9 September 2022. 

 Stroud Women’s Refuge had been voted as Stroud District Council’s Charity of the 
Year. 

 
The Leader made the following announcements: 

 The Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge took place between 
the 8 and 10 March 2022. The feedback report had been completed and would be 
brought to Council on the 19 May 2022 for discussion. An action plan would also 
be taken to Strategy and Resources Committee. 

 Thanked those who had welcomed Ukranians into their homes and Officers from 
Stroud District Council and Gloucestershire County Council, community 
organisations and individuals who had provided support to make it a success. 
They also drew attention to other wars and oppressive regimes and stated that the 
district and country should be a refuge for those seeking sanctuary.  

 The Council meeting fell on International Workers Memorial Day and Members 
were reminded that more people died at work across the world every year than in 
wars. They advised that they had been having discussions with the Trade Union 
Congress and that many Councils had signed up to the Stay Safe: Join the Union 
Campaign. They asked Members to join them in a minute’s silence to remember 
people who had lost their lives at work. 

 
CL.049 Public Question Time  
 
Public questions were submitted. They were answered by the Leader, Councillor Cornell. 
(Refer to the recording of the meeting). 
 
CL.050 Minutes  
 
RESOLVED  That the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2021 and 17 

February 2022 were approved as a correct record 
 
 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 5

https://youtu.be/s0PtwebDRoE


 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

Recommendations from other Committees 
Recommendation from Environment Committee 

CL.051 2030 Annual Report (2021-2022)  
 
The Chair of Environment Committee, Councillor Turner, introduced the report and 
commended the work of her predecessors which included Simon Pickering the previous 
Chair of Environment Committee. They highlighted the following key points: 

 The report was reflective of the last 12 months of work 

 Phase 1 commitments in the Master Plan were on schedule 

 Phase 2 would begin in a years time 

 Section 2 highlighted the key achievements 

 Areas of future activities were identified including coordination, monitoring, and 
further baselining. 

 
Proposed by Councillor Turner and seconded by Councillor Layfield. 
 
Councillor Layfield welcomed the 2030 report and offered thanks to Officers and 
Councillors involved in producing it. He drew attention to signs of progress which 
included a commitment to £180m spend over 30 years on retrofit to bring the council 
owned housing stock up to SAP C rating. He also stated that 2030 was rightly prioritised 
within the Council Plan and commended the councils ability to engage with partners from 
all sectors. 
 
Councillor Braun commended the effort that had been put into the 2030 ambitions from 
all sides of the chamber and through committees. They reminded Members of the recent 
UN report that identified that there needed to be rapid deep and immediate cuts to 
carbon dioxide to limit dangerous climate change and that the current promises from 
government weren’t enough to save the planet. 
 
Councillor Brown echoed Councillor Layfields’ statements regarding working with other 
partners and the council’s recognition of this has helped them to make progress towards 
the 2030 ambitions. 
 
In response to Councillor Studdert-Kennedy the Senior Community Services Officer 
confirmed that Stratford Park had won the Green Flag award every year since it had first 
won. 
 
Councillor Green raised concerns about meeting the 2030 objectives and asked whether 
the council was going to achieve the 2030 aims. Councillor Turner advised that the report 
showed just one year of a 7-year plan and that they were making good progress. 
 
In summing up Councillor Turner drew Members attention to the highlights and progress 
listed on page 45 of the document pack. 
 
On being put to the vote, the Motion was carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED  To endorse the Environment Committee decision to approve the 2021-

2022 Annual Report for the 2030 Strategy and Master Plan. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

CL.052 Review of street or building names and monuments in the Stroud 
district  

 
The Chair of the Review Panel, Councillor Bennett, introduced the report and advised 
that since the worldwide Black Lives Matter protests in June 2020, the Council had 
committed to carrying out consultation with its communities and undertaking a review of 
any street and building names, statues and architectural features in the district that may 
have been considered offensive. They thanked the Review Panel for all of the work they 
had put into the review over the last 11 months. A public consultation had been launched 
in 2021 and over 1600 responses were received which helped the panel to compile the 
recommendations laid out in the report. The Review Panel had concluded, following the 
consultation, that the Blackboy Clock and Statue should not be on display in the public 
realm but should be redisplayed with detailed interpretation in a place that provided 
learning and education. The recommendation that Council was being asked to consider 
was to explore if removal of the statue could be achieved. Councillor Bennett also drew 
Members attention to the additional recommendations of the Review Panel. 
 
Councillor Bennett invited some of the Review Panel Members, who attended the 
meeting, to give their thoughts. 
 
Mr Guthrie, community representative on the Review Panel, highlighted the following: 

 They had written to the council in June 2020 regarding the clock 

 Thanked the Review Panel members, family and friends for support 

 They had taken the time to read through the 1600 responses and take on board 
what the consultations responses said. 

 Asked Members to think of the report as a series of starting points rather than an 
ending 

 The conversation about how the district could become more inclusive for 
everybody needed to continue. 

 
Ms Hoskin, community representative on the Review Panel, highlighted the following: 

 Impressed by the thoroughness of Stroud District Council in conducting the public 
consultation and the processing of the results. 

 People were beginning to realise that diversity enriched communities. 

 Encouraged by the proposal of a task force that could implement some of the 
ideas. 

 
Mr Butler, historian and member of Radical Stroud on the Review Panel, highlighted the 
following: 

 The conception of education should go beyond the demographic of youth. 

 Resources should be developed for community education in a variety of 
accessible ways, means and media. 

 Community education could strengthen community cohesion. 
 
The chair thanked the Review Panel members. 
 
Councillor Pearson raised concerns regarding the validity of the consultation results and 
whether it was a representative snapshot of views across the district. Councillor Bennett 
confirmed that based on the electorate for the district, which was around 96000, a 
representative sample would be 1,058 with a margin of error of 3%. The number of 

Page 6

Agenda Item 5



 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

consultation responses received was above the numbers needed for a standard 
representative sample for the district. 
 
In response to further questions from Councillor Pearson, Councillor Bennett confirmed 
that until January 2022 they believed that the residents of the building owned the clock 
and statue and they had consulted with them. However, it became apparent that the 
clock and statue had been put into a trust 20 years ago, they had contacted the trustees 
however they had not been able to respond and so they had been in contact with a 
member of their family instead.  
 
Councillor Green asked whether Stroud Town Council had provided any funds to repair 
the clock and statue following an application for a grant. It was confirmed that they had 
received a grant from the Town Council. 
 
Councillor Green also questioned whether a plaque should be provided on the building 
and a further consultation carried out once the contextual information had been added. 
This was so that the public could revaluate whether the information provided changed 
their views as to removal. Councillor Bennett advised that it was their plan to provide a 
plaque even if the clock and statue had not been removed but had received very strong 
responses in favour of removal. 
 
In response to questions from Councillor Braun, Brown and Studdert-Kennedy the 
following was confirmed: 

 They wanted the communities to help shape any future community events or 
commemorations and that the task force would help to progress this work. 

 They were hoping that schools would be encouraged to use this as a way to 
educate pupils on the issues surrounding the Blackboy Clock and Statue and the 
task force would be engaging with communities. 

 The figure of £33.5k was for the relocation of the clock and statue and further 
information on the financials were included in the implications on page 78. 

 The plaque would not be placed on the building but would be placed nearby. 
 
Councillor Sutton raised concerns over the removal of the clock and statue and stated 
that he had spoken to many people who thought it should remain in situ. Councillor 
Bennett reminded Members that they were not recommending that the statue was 
removed immediately but that they should pursue removal based on the results of the 
consultation. 
 
Councillor Patrick asked questions regarding Blackboys Road in Dursley. Councillor 
Bennett confirmed that the recommendation was for a consultation to be carried out with 
the residents of the 8 houses in conjunction with Dursley Town Council and that a larger 
consultation had not been ruled out. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Bennett and seconded by Councillor Cornell. 
 
Councillor Pearson acknowledged the extensive work that had been carried out by the 
review panel but stated that the implications of the project had not been thought through 
and it had been poorly costed. He further stated that there was no guarantee that the 
statue would go to the Museum in the Park and that the consultation did not provide a 
true representation of the district. He stated that a more thorough consultation should 
take place. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

 
Councillor Aldam advised that they understood the concerns regarding manipulating 
history or destroying it and provided reassurance that history didn’t change but how we 
see it could.  
 
Councillor Jones stated that following Councillor Aldams’ statement he had been tempted 
to change his decision and thanked the Review Panel who had produced one of the most 
thorough pieces of work he had seen. He highlighted his concerns with the budget and 
the consultation results not being representative. He also drew Members’ attention to 
Historic Englands position which stated ‘parts of our heritage may confront us with 
aspects of our past which we now question, which may be associated with injustice and 
which may be painful. It is right that as a society we respond to such associations, but we 
believe that this is best done, not by removal, but by preservation, and responding to 
them in ways which can explain their context and prompt reflection”.  
 
Councillor James thanked the Review Panel members and stated that we should be 
removing the statue and clock and put it into a museum as leaving it where it was would 
be a mistake. They stated that the statue and clock would not be erected now and 
therefore we needed to acknowledge that and remove it. 
 
Councillor Turner stated that the finances were not exact at this point however they were 
confident the final figures would be robustly interrogated by the Section 151 Officer. They 
also confirmed that the majority of responses were in favour of removal and that the 
statue was not in its first home and had been moved previously, it therefore did not need 
to be the final location for the statue. 
 
Councillor Evans queried whether a plaque could be included on the anti-slavery arch so 
that the good and bad sides of history were on display. 
 
Councillor Braun reminded members of the statement that the political group leaders had 
released in 2020 condemning racism. They also stated that there had been many 
residents who had responded to the issue and that they need to listen to what people 
were telling them. They drew Member’s attention to page 102 and stated that if the 
recommendations were approved then they would proceed at every stage with 
community engagement. 
 
Councillor Cornell commended Members for the level of respectful debate at the meeting 
and thanked the Review Panel for all their work. Councillor Cornell reminded Members of 
the anonymous email they had received prior to the start of the review. The email stated 
that the figurine wasn’t based on a specific individual but served as a monument to the 
commodification and later exotification of black bodies that emerged as a result of slavery 
and that the statue was symbolic of systemic racism. They stated that if all the 
recommendations were implemented their understanding of the past would be enriched, 
and would be enhanced. 
 
Councillor Bennett confirmed that a robust process had been followed and that the 
recommendations would make a positive difference. They urged Members to vote in 
favour. 
 
On being put to the vote, the Motion was carried with 26 votes for, 2 against and 12 
abstentions. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 5



 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

 
RESOLVED  To 

a) Thank the Review Panel for their contribution to this work; and 
b) Accept all recommendations of the Review Panel outlined in section 

4 of this report. 
 

Councillor Crews and Councillor Pearson left the meeting and gave their apologies. 
 
CL.053 Annual Report on the Outcome of 2021/22 Equality Diversity & 

Inclusion Action Plan and Proposed 2022/23 Action Plan  
 
Councillor Kay thanked Officers for providing constant help and positive input. They 
stated that equality work needed ongoing effort by everyone for it to work and that the 
efforts over the past year had laid a solid grounding. The following was highlighted: 

 All council reports now came with equality implications and that they had tried to 
give them a greater emphasis 

 Everyone had some acquired prejudices and that training had been carried out 
which sought to challenge and change our ingrained prejudices. 

 The action plan was constantly being developed and they had asked a future 
working group to consider the needs of the Gypsy, Roma and traveller 
communities. 

 Councillor Kay would be handing over to a new chair but hoped to remain in the 
working group. 

 
Proposed by Councillor Kay and seconded by Councillor Bennett. 
 
Councillor James asked the council to ensure they were using gender neutral languages 
throughout all documentation. It was confirmed that the Constitution Working Group 
would be looking at this. 
 
Councillor Bennett encouraged members to vote in favour of the report and the ambitious 
plan that had been created. 
 
Councillor Kay thanked all members of the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Working 
Group. 
 
On being put to the vote, the Motion was carried. 
 
RESOLVED    a) Note the progress made on the EDI Action Plan 2021/22; 
                                and 
                       b) Approve the EDI Action Plan 2022/23. 
 
CL.054 Adopting the APPG Definition of Islamophobia  
 
Councillor Layfield introduced the report and stated that Islamophobia created barriers 
and division where there should be openness and inclusion. He advised that it was 
incumbent on them as Councillors and as a Council to acknowledge the presence of 
islamophobia in society and do everything they could to eradicate it.  
 
Proposed by Councillor Layfield and seconded by Councillor Aldam. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

Councillor Kay advised that he had spoken to members of the Gloucestershire 
Bangladeshi community and they were supportive of the proposal and would like to 
participate in any follow up. 
 

Councillor Studdert-Kennedy asked why the Council was only approving one definition 
and not looking at all religions. Councillor Layfield advised that they had adopted the 
IHRA definition of anti-semitism in 2021 and that Islamaphobia was the most reported 
hate crime and that it was important that it was recognised. 
Councillor Hall stated that Islamophobia was rampant in society and so it needed to be 
challenged. 
 

Councillor James confirmed that they needed to adopt the definition because they were 
privileged and they needed to ensure that they were looking after those people that they 
should be mindful about. 
 

Councillor Edmunds stated that he had previously worked in Gloucester where there 
were over 3000 british muslim families and he had learnt so much in his time working 
with those communities. They stayed that Councillors should reach out to those 
communities as they could also learn more and become much richer people. 
 

Councillor Patrick confirmed that she had attended the Members Briefing and that she 
had learnt that it was to do with the perception of a particular ethnicity or religion and 
wasn’t what she originally thought.  
 

Councillor Aldam offered her thanks to the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Working 
Group. 
 

Councillor Layfield stated that everyone was a human being but some were treated 
differently and that it should be acknowledged. He also confirmed that 40 other Councils 
had already adopted the definition. 
 

On being put to the vote, the Motion was carried with 37 votes in favour and one 
abstention. 
 

RESOLVED a) Adopt the APPG on British Muslims definition of Islamophobia 
alongside the Coalition Against Islamophobia (CAI) guidelines 
 

b) Include training for Members and Officers in recognising and 
countering instances of Islamophobia as part of our regular 
training opportunities 
 

c) Develop and strengthen our links with religious and community 
groups that represent and embrace our Muslim communities 
 

d) Promote events and messaging around Islamophobia Awareness 
Month (November) and the recently declared UN International Day 
to Combat Islamophobia (March 15). 

 
CL.055 Appointment of Independent Persons  
 
Councillor Studdert-Kennedy confirmed that they were required to appoint independent 
persons due to the Localism Act 2011 and that they were proposing to re-appoint two 

Page 10

Agenda Item 5



 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

independent persons and appoint an additional person who had been through the 
application process. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Studdert-Kennedy and seconded by Councillor Pearcy. 
 

On being put to the vote, the Motion was carried with 37 votes in favour and 1 abstention. 
 

RESOLVED The Council appoints John Acton, Phyllida Pyper, and Adrian 
Stratton as Independent Persons for an initial period of 2 years until 
the Annual Meeting of the Council in May 2024, when the 
appointments may be reviewed and extended for a further 2 years 
by agreement between the Council and the Independent Person. 

 

CL.056 Ubico Five Year Vision and Business Plan 2021/2022  
 

Councillor Turner introduced the report and advised that there was an error in the report 
title as it should have stated 2022/23 instead of 2021/22. They confirmed that the report 
had been compiled by the Chief Executive as the Councils shareholder representative for 
Ubico. The Environment Committee had considered a draft of the Business Plan in 
December 2020. Councillor Turner highlighted paragraph 2.3 which showed the 4 key 
pillars and 5 themes which had been well received at Environment Committee. 
 

Councillor Studdert-Kennedy asked if they were expecting any increases to the budget 
for Ubico due to personnel or Covid. The Strategic Director of Resources confirmed that 
the agreed budget for next year did include an increase for Ubico due to inflationary 
pressures which would be monitored through budget monitoring. 
 

Councillor Kay stated that the business plan promoted equality of access to all essential 
services and this should be addressed in future reports to explain what was in place to 
ensure people had equality of access. 
 

Proposed by Councillor Turner and seconded by Councillor Smith. 
 

Councillor Green stated that Ubico had done a fantastic job throughout the pandemic and 
asked for her thanks to be passed on to the relevant teams. The Chair offered his thanks 
on behalf of the whole council and the Leader also reiterated the good job that Ubico had 
done. Councillor Cornell echoed Councillor Greens statement.  
 

Councillor Davies left the meeting. 
 

On being put to the vote, the Motion was carried unanimously. 
 
 

 
CL.057 Member Questions  
 

There were none. 
 

CL.058 Notice of Motions  
 
a) Motion calling for Gloucestershire County Council to make 20mph the default 

speed limit for residential areas in Stroud District and throughout Gloucestershire 
is proposed by Councillor Brown and seconded by Councillor Layfield  

RESOLVED To note the Business Plan for 2022/23. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

Councillor Brown introduced the Motion and highlighted the following key points: 

 The majority of Parish and Town Councils across the County and Forest of Dean 
and Cotswold District Councils were in support of the Motion. 

 It was part of an international campaign - 20mph (30km/h) was becoming the 
recognised standard for residential areas. 

 Safety was the primary reason for implementation. 

 Important for quality of life as people should feel safe. 

 Evidence on the effect on pollution was mixed however it was explained that 
studies showed that acceleration caused more emissions. 

 
Councillor Layfield brought Members attention to some of the benefits to road users: 

 People would feel safer and more able to cross the road. 

 Cyclists would be able to maintain pace with traffic. 

 According to a 2018 report produced by Transport for London: "In 20mph zones 
vehicles moved more smoothly with fewer accelerations and decelerations. This 
driving style produced fewer particulate emissions." 

 Road noise would be considerably reduced. 

 Lower speeds reduced the number and severity of road injuries. 
 
Councillor Hynd stated that there had been a real world study carried out in Bristol 
between 2014 and 2018 and the University of the West of England had published results 
of the study. The results showed that it had caused a 2.7mph average drop in speed 
limits, 170 less serious injuries recorded every year, a saving to the local economy of 
£15m and 45 deaths per year had been prevented. 
 
Councillor Turner stated that approving the Motion would bring the council in line with the 
direction of travel of many of our neighbouring counties. They also drew on their 
experiences of spending time in London and stated that where the 20mph zones had 
been introduced it had been transformative. 
 
Councillor Studdert-Kennedy advised that this needed to apply to cyclists as well as 
vehicles. 
 
Councillor Edmunds stated that his ward had 20mph limits put in place however it had 
been a long process and that he therefore supported the motion. 
 
Councillor Cornell confirmed that they would be supporting it and that she had been 
made aware recently of the issues involved with speed limits following concerns raised 
by Parish Councillors. 
 
Councillor Housden stated that the motion had been discussed at the County Council in 
June 2021 and that he would be opposing the motion due to the following reasons: 

 There was no evidence that a blanket change was the answer and that a 
combination of changes were needed to deal with speeding. 

 £550k was being invested in a county wide community speed watch safety fund 
which would be available in the coming weeks. 

 Part of the County Councils road safety policy would include the development of 
20mph zones but also included education. 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 5



 
2021/22 

Council Subject to approval at 
28 April 2022 next meeting 

 

Councillor Patrick stated when she had previously walked in areas with 20mph limits, the 
cars were present for longer and therefore she found that she breathed in fumes for 
longer. 
 
Councillor Braun stated that everyone has the right to a safer street and that it was a 
good time to discuss the motion as the County Council were currently reviewing their 
policies and would be consulting with the District Council. 
 
On being put to the vote the Motion was carried with 25 votes in favour, 7 against and 5 
abstentions. 
 
RESOLVED Stroud District Council: 

i. believes that 20 mph is plenty where people live, work and play; 
ii. agrees with and supports the UK Government’s endorsement of 

The Stockholm Declaration (Third Global Ministerial Conference 
on Road Safety, Stockholm, 19–20 February 2020), which 
resolved that authorities should “mandate a maximum road 
travel speed of 30km/h [20mph] in areas where vulnerable road 
users and vehicles mix…except where strong evidence exists 
that higher speeds are safe”; 

iii. calls on Gloucestershire County Council, as the Local Highways 
Authority, to identify areas which would benefit from a 20mph 
speed limit, and to provide the necessary funding to implement 
these changes, as supported by a majority of responding parish 
councils to the consultation carried out by GCC in 2021, and will 
ask the Chief Executive to write to GCC accordingly; 

iv. will ask the Chief Executive to inform the local media of this 
council’s support for 20mph to become the default speed limit 
for Gloucestershire; 

v. will ask the Chief Executive to write to our MPs (enclosing a 
copy of this motion) asking them to support the implementation 
of 20mph limits for residential areas throughout Stroud District. 

 
The meeting closed at 9.55 pm 

Chair  
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14

Agenda Item 5



Council Annual Meeting  Agenda Item 11 
Thursday, 19 May 2022 

STROUD DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

COUNCIL 
 

THURSDAY, 19 MAY 2022 
 

Report Title LGA CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE FEEDBACK REPORT 

Purpose of Report To inform members of the feedback from the LGA Corporate Peer 

Challenge team, which revisited the Council between 8 and 10 

March 2022. 

Decision(s) Council RESOLVES to: Welcome the LGA Corporate Peer 

Challenge feedback report. An action plan based on the 

recommendations will be considered by the Strategy & 

Resources Committee on 9 June 2022. 

Consultation and 
Feedback 

The Peer Challenge process involved meetings with the Leader, 

Group Leaders, committee chairs, a number of other members, 

the CE, senior management and a cross-section of staff, as well 

as external partners and agencies, including the LEP, LSP, Health 

Service, County and neighbouring District Councils and the 

Police. 

Report Author 
 

Kathy O'Leary, Chief Executive 

Tel: 01453 754780     Email: kathy.oleary@stroud.gov.uk 

Options The Local Government Association encourages all local 

authorities to undergo a Corporate Peer Challenge every 4-5 

years. Peer challenges are improvement-focused and tailored to 

meet an individual council’s needs. They are designed to 

complement and add value to a council’s own performance and 

improvement focus. A Peer Challenge team visited the council in 

March 2019, following which an action plan based on the 

recommendations in the feedback report was agreed and 

implemented. Normally the team would have carried out a light-

touch revisit to assess progress within 2 years but as this was 

delayed because of the pandemic, a fuller Peer Challenge revisit 

has been carried out this year, 3 years on.  

Background Papers 
 

A copy of the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge team’s feedback 
report is attached at Appendix A.  

Appendices Appendix A – LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Feedback Report 
2022 

Implications  
(further details at the 
end of the report) 

Financial Legal Equality Environmental 

No No No No 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 11



Council Annual Meeting  Agenda Item 11 
Thursday, 19 May 2022 

1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Local Government Association (LGA) gives all local authorities the opportunity to 

participate in a Corporate Peer Challenge as part of its sector-led improvement 
programme. The Council undertook a Peer Challenge three years ago in March 2019, as 
the new Chief Executive and Leader considered that an ideal time to take up the offer to 
review how the council was doing and how best to tackle current and future challenges.  

1.2 The 2019 Peer Challenge feedback was very positive and was reported to Council in May 
2019. Four short-term and four medium-term recommendations formed the basis for an 
action plan agreed by Strategy & Resources Committee in July 2019. Progress on those 
actions was subsequently regularly reported to the committee, with the short-term 
recommendations quickly achieved and the medium-term ones largely integrated into the 
council’s Fit for the Future modernisation programme.   

1.3 The peer team would normally have carried out a light-touch revisit within two years of 
their original visit, but this was delayed by the pandemic and so a fuller review was 
undertaken this year, three years on from the team’s original visit.  

1.4 The review took place between 8 and 10 March 2022 and was conducted by a team of 
elected members and senior officers from other local authorities, together with advisors 
from the LGA. They were invited to give us the benefit of their experience of working with 
and leading similar organisations. 

1.5 Every corporate peer challenge considers 5 core components:  

a) Local priorities and outcomes - Are the council’s priorities clear and informed by the 
local context? Is the council delivering effectively on its priorities?  

b) Organisational and place leadership - Does the council provide effective local 

leadership? Are there good relationships with partner organisations and local 

communities? 

c) Governance and culture - Are there clear and robust governance arrangements? Is 
there a culture of challenge and scrutiny?  

d) Financial planning and management - Does the council have a grip on its current 

financial position? Does the council have a strategy and a plan to address its financial 

challenges?  

e) Capacity for improvement - Is the organisation able to support delivery of local 

priorities? Does the council have the capacity to improve? 

In addition to these questions, the council asked the peer team to provide feedback on its 

response to Covid-19 and support to the community and reflections on the new Council 

Plan and delivery ambitions.  

1.6 The team prepared by reviewing the range of documents and information, including the 
council’s key documents, submitted as part of our self-assessment / position statement to 
familiarise themselves with the council, the challenges we are facing and the progress we 
have made since the last Peer Challenge visit in 2019. Pre-engagement calls took place, 
and a focus group was held with town and parish council representatives in advance of 

Page 16

Agenda Item 11



Council Annual Meeting  Agenda Item 11 
Thursday, 19 May 2022 

travelling to the district. The team then spent two and a half days on site at Ebley Mill during 
which they gathered information and views from a wide selection of staff, councillors, 
stakeholders and partners and carried out further research and reading. The team held 
some 29 meetings and met with more than 80 people. 

2. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

2.1 The peer team presented their findings on the last day of their visit and have now submitted 
their feedback report, attached at Appendix A. It is important to note that peer challenges 
are improvement-focused, they are not inspections. The peer team provide feedback as 
critical friends, based on their experience and knowledge of local government. The 
process is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical assessment of plans and 
proposals.   

2.2 The peer team’s findings are clearly set out in the report and although the focus is on areas 
for development and improvement, they also highlight the areas in which the council has 
made significant progress since the 2019 Peer Challenge. 

2.3 The headlines from the feedback report are:  

 SDC is a good council, progressing well towards its ambition of being a great council. 

Following the 2019 Peer Challenge, the council’s action plan ensured that strong 

foundations were put in place on which the council can continue to build. 

 The council should be proud of what it has achieved over the last 3 years and of its 

response to the pandemic. The council worked very hard to support its residents, 

tenants and businesses as well as its own staff. 

 The developing ‘One Council’ ethos, which is about Members and officers working 

well together across teams, is driven from the top by the council’s political and 

managerial leadership and can now be embedded across the organisation. 

 The plans and strategies that the council has put in place – the Council Plan, the 

2030 Strategy and the Fit for the Future modernisation programme in particular – 

provide a clear framework for delivering the council’s ambitions and can now be more 

closely interwoven.    

 Following the 2019 Peer Challenge, a framework of strategic meetings was 

successfully established to develop those plans and strategies and we should now 

review the need for these and focus more on delivery. 

 Becoming a new councillor during the pandemic has been challenging. Greater 

member involvement in member training and development is recommended, to help 

shape members’ needs and requirements and aid understanding of the specific roles 

and responsibilities of members and officers.  

 Great progress has been made with IT (Information Technology) and everyone is 

looking forward to the new digital platform that will improve the council’s digital offer 

to residents and businesses, and its case management and back office systems. 

 There is a clear and positive intent on community engagement and some good work 

started to work with communities to agree expected outcomes and co-ordinate this 

across services.   

2.4 The key recommendations are set out in section 2 on pages 4 to 6 of the feedback report.  

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 11



Council Annual Meeting  Agenda Item 11 
Thursday, 19 May 2022 

3. NEXT STEPS 

3.1 Members and officers now have the opportunity to reflect on the Peer Challenge team’s 
findings and recommendations and determine how we wish to take things forward. As 
before, we will develop an action plan based on the recommendations. The LGA is 
available to offer advice in developing the action plan and its implementation. The intention 
is to bring an action plan to Strategy & Resources Committee for agreement on 9 June. 

3.2 The peer team and the LGA are keen to build on the relationships formed through the peer 
challenge process. The process includes a check-in session in six months’ time, which 
provides an opportunity for the council’s senior leadership to update peers on its progress 
against the action plan and discuss next steps. 

4. IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 Financial Implications 

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. Where decisions are 
taken as part of the action plan these will be subject to appropriate financial appraisal and 
included in the MTFP as required.  
 
Andrew Cummings, Strategic Director of Resources 
Tel: 01453 754115     Email: andrew.cummings@stroud.gov.uk 

4.2 Legal Implications 

There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Ian Goldsmith, One Legal 
Email: legalservices@onelegal.org.uk 

4.3 Equality Implications 

There are no equality implications arising from the feedback report itself. The report makes 
a series of recommendations which will form the basis of actions to be considered by 
Strategy & Resources Committee on 9 June 2022.  
 

4.4 Environmental Implications 

There are no environmental implications arising from the feedback report itself. 

 

 

 

 

Page 18

Agenda Item 11

mailto:andrew.cummings@stroud.gov.uk
mailto:legalservices@onelegal.org.uk


 

 

 

 

 

LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge 
 

 

Stroud District Council 
 
8th – 10th March 2022 

 
Feedback report 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

Page 19

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

dayj
Typewritten text
Council Annual Meeting19 May 2022

dayj_1
Typewritten text
Agenda Item 11Appendix A



 

2 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Executive summary .............................................................................................. 3 

2. Key recommendations ......................................................................................... 4 

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach ........................................................... 6 

4. Feedback ............................................................................................................. 8 

5. Next steps .......................................................................................................... 18 

 
 
 
  

Page 20

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

3 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Executive summary 
 

Stroud District Council (SDC) is a good council – it has ambitions to be great and is 

progressing well on the way to achieving this.  The council had a corporate peer 

challenge in 2019 and invited a peer team back to assess their progress, comment on 

the council’s response to the pandemic and share views on the newly adopted Council 

Plan and delivery ambitions. 

Having spent time at SDC, and taken a range of background information into account, 

the overriding message from the peer team is that the council should be proud of what 

has been achieved over the last three years and in responding to the pandemic. 

The Action Plan created by the council following the corporate peer challenge in 2019 

put in place the building blocks to enable SDC to move forward with confidence.  The 

impression that the peer team has been left with following this recent peer challenge is 

that the council has set some strong foundations in place and can use this as a 

springboard to now focus on achieving its ambitions. 

A ‘One Council’ ethos is clearly developing, as evidenced by officers working across 

teams and all members developing their corporate loyalty and commitment to the 

council. This ethos is driven right from the top, with the Leader and Chief Executive 

promoting and demonstrating this approach. SDC can now take the opportunity to 

build on this and embed the ‘One Council’ ethos across the whole organisation so that 

values and behaviours are consistently demonstrated, and organisational capacity is 

strengthened by cross team working. 

The council also has the foundations for a good strategic framework to take forward its 

ambitions. For example, The Council Plan, which it adopted in October 2021, along 

with the ‘Fit for the Future’ (FFF) modernisation programme provides a comprehensive 

strategy for the next three to five years to deliver on the key strategic priorities as 

agreed by residents and businesses.  Likewise, the 2030 Strategy provides a longer 

term approach to addressing the climate and ecological emergency and becoming a 

carbon neutral district by 2030. There is recognition by senior officers that these three 

significant building blocks now need to be interwoven to provide a clear framework 

which will help smooth and accelerate the delivery of the council’s aims. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

4 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

As one of the actions following the previous corporate peer challenge in 2019, a 

meetings framework of regular meetings was put in place to create time for strategic 

conversations with group leaders, the Political Alliance and Committee chairs. 

However, now that strategies have been set and Plans are being adopted, the peer 

team felt that the frequency of these meetings could be reduced to release capacity of 

senior officers to focus on delivery of agreed priorities.  

A number of new councillors were elected to the council at the last election in May 

2021.  Becoming a councillor during the pandemic and working within the required 

restrictions will have been particularly challenging.  There is an opportunity now for a 

Member Development Group to be created to produce an ongoing programme of 

member training and development to help understanding of the specific roles and 

responsibilities of members and officers and shaped to members ongoing needs and 

requirements.      

The council staff we spoke with clearly feel supported by the senior management 

team, particularly through Covid.  During this time staff worked hard to undertake 

additional tasks as necessary on top of the day job. Officers, including the senior 

management team, now need the opportunity to focus singularly on delivery of the 

strategic plans set by the council. 

Information Technology (IT) is making great progress, and everyone is looking forward 

to the new digital platform to support customer engagement.  The new platform will 

improve the council’s digital offer to residents and businesses and help develop case 

management systems and better integration of back office systems. 

There is a clear and positive intent on community engagement, and there are 

consultations and engagements taking place, or planned across the council (e.g., with 

the parishes, with the community engagement plan, through the Stroud District Local 

Strategic Partnership). This could usefully be translated into expected outcomes, 

agreed with communities and co-ordinated across all services. 

2. Key recommendations 
 

There are a number of observations and suggestions within the main section of the 

report. The following are the peer team’s key recommendations to the council: 

Page 22

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

5 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

2.1. Pace of activity 

Ensure there is sufficient corporate and strategic capacity, focus on reviewing 

progress to date and plan effectively for the delivery of agreed plans and strategies. 

Focus on the delivery of what you have agreed are your priorities to ensure that what 

you do is done well and your activity is outcome driven. 

2.2. Capacity of senior leadership team 

Consider the structure in place for informal meetings now that key Plans are in place – 

are meetings proportionate?  Consider the capacity of your senior leadership team so 

that they can continue to deliver for you as they have been doing very capably.  

2.3. Create a Member Development Group 

Create a Member Development Group to coordinate and prioritise a programme of 

ongoing member training and support new members to find their place in the council 

and understand and embrace the member officer protocol. If Members own this 

agenda, they can shape it to what they need. 

2.4. Clarity on embedding the One Council ethos 

Ensure there is a coherent plan that sets out how the One Council ethos will be 

embedded across the whole council (officers and members). This includes officers 

working across departments and it includes officers and members displaying corporate 

loyalty and mutual respect to each other. 

2.5. Action plan for improvement to housing services 

Continue to work on your action plan for improvement for housing services making sure 

the teams within that service understand their corporate responsibilities and feel that 

they are an integral part of the council. Ensure a clear plan to put tenants at the heart of 

what they do.  

2.6. Opportunity to reset Customer Services 

Customer Services - there is an opportunity to reset your approach, making it more 

efficient, corporate, and centralised.  If Customer services (or Community contact) is 

carried out to its highest level, you can free up resource by answering and responding to 

queries at first point of contact. Good customer service leads to a highly regarded council. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

6 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

2.7. Align the council Plans and Strategies 

As the council’s FFF Programme is rolled out, ensure it aligns with the Council Plan, 

2030 Strategy and MTFP and there is a clear internal communications plan, alongside 

the Community Engagement Plan. The Community Engagement Plan could include 

expected outcomes agreed with communities.  There is clearly work done on external 

communications and engagement with the media. Ensure that there is also attention 

paid to internal communications with a communications strategy to ensure that 

resources are appropriately assigned to both aspects. 

2.8. Working with town and parish councils 

Consider working more effectively with town and parish councils to maximise the 

developing relationships – whilst developing the Working Together project to put a 

protocol in place for engagement, continue and enhance the regular forums that are in 

place already (for example they could be theme based e.g., how towns and parishes 

can engage in planning policy, or planning consultations and see the results of their 

engagement). 

3. Summary of the peer challenge approach 

3.1. The peer team 

Peer challenges are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers. The 

make-up of the peer team reflected the focus of the peer challenge and peers were 

selected on the basis of their relevant expertise. The peers were: 

• Tom Beattie  Former Leader of Corby Borough Council 

• Katherine Marriott Chief Executive, Rushcliffe Borough Council 

• Bindu Arjoon  Deputy Chief Executive, Exeter City Council 

• Paul Clarke  LGA Principal Adviser, South West 

• Kathryn Trant  LGA Peer Challenge Manager 

3.2. Scope and focus 

The peer team considered the following five themes which form the core components 

of all Corporate Peer Challenges. These areas are critical to councils’ performance 

and improvement. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

7 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Local priorities and outcomes - Are the council’s priorities clear and 

informed by the local context? Is the council delivering effectively on its 

priorities?  

2. Organisational and place leadership - Does the council provide effective 

local leadership? Are there good relationships with partner organisations and 

local communities? 

3. Governance and culture - Are there clear and robust governance 

arrangements? Is there a culture of challenge and scrutiny? 

4. Financial planning and management - Does the council have a grip on its 

current financial position? Does the council have a strategy and a plan to 

address its financial challenges? 

5. Capacity for improvement - Is the organisation able to support delivery of 

local priorities? Does the council have the capacity to improve? 

 

In addition to these questions, the council asked the peer team to provide feedback on 

the response to Covid 19 and support to the community and reflections on the new 

Council Plan and delivery ambitions. 

3.3. The peer challenge process 

Peer challenges are improvement focused; it is important to stress that this was not an 

inspection. The process is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical 

assessment of plans and proposals. The peer team used their experience and 

knowledge of local government to reflect on the information presented to them by 

people they met, things they saw and material that they read.  

The peer team prepared by reviewing a range of documents and information in order 

to ensure they were familiar with the council and the challenges it is facing. Pre-

engagement calls took place, and a focus group was held with town and parish council 

representatives in advance of travelling to Stroud.  The team then spent two and a half 

days onsite at Stroud District Council, during which they: 

• Gathered information and views from more than 29 meetings, in addition to further 

research and reading. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

8 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

• Spoke to more than 80 people including a range of council staff together with 

members and external stakeholders. 

This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings. In presenting feedback, 

they have done so as fellow local government officers and members. 

 

4. Feedback 

4.1. Local priorities and outcomes 

SDC adopted a new Council Plan in October 2021. The Plan sets out an exciting 

vision for the district for the next five years. Each of the three priorities within the Plan; 

Environment and climate change; Community resilience and wellbeing, and Economy, 

recovery, and regeneration; is underpinned by strategic objectives and delivery plans.  

There is potential now to build upon the launch of the Council Plan with strong 

communications, performance management and feedback loops. The development of 

a Community Engagement Strategy will enable the views of the various communities 

to be considered by setting out methods for more meaningful consultation.  This will 

support the council and enable it to be better connected to communities, as well as 

demonstrate that the council is putting communities at the heart of what it does.   

That engagement with communities will be an important focus and source of 

information as the Plan moves to delivery and, in time, review.  The Community 

Engagement Strategy should especially address how the community voice is reflected 

and heard, from town and parish councils, the voluntary sector, community groups for 

example.    

It was positive to see that SDC is developing a data, evidence, and insight approach 

which will help to drive improvement. This is ‘work in progress’ and at the same time 

plans for the use of the newly created performance management framework are being 

established. As such now is an ideal opportunity to join these two things up, so the 

council can see how its insight work and use of data is used effectively to help deliver 

priorities and improved outcomes. 

 

 

Page 26

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

9 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

As the FFF programme is rolled out it will be important that it aligns with and underpins 

the effective delivery of priority outcomes for the council. FFF covers four workstreams 

which are the building blocks for SDC to deliver its priorities for its residents:  

• Connected Communities – work has been commissioned on developing an 

Asset Based Community Development approach to help inform thinking on how 

the council will deliver on its mission statement to put communities at the heart 

of what the council does 

• People and Organisational Development – progress has been made in this 

workstream but there is recognition of the need to embed across the council 

now that the focus on responding to the pandemic is receding 

• Technology and Digital – the peer team heard evidence of progress in this 

workstream including the procurement of the digital platform and significant 

improvements to the infrastructure 

• Service Delivery – council performance in some areas is of the first order, for 

example, waste and recycling collection, whilst in other areas, especially in 

respect of housing related services there is work to do.  The key performance 

headlines for the council are recorded in  the  LG Inform report for SDC, which 

is hosted on the LGA website. Importantly, in respect of housing, we were made 

aware that there is an action plan in place for improvement and the council 

should continue to work on it to make housing services a truly corporate team 

and higher performing service which puts tenants and residents at the heart of 

what they do. 

4.2. Organisational and place leadership  

The Action Plan produced following the corporate peer challenge in 2019 included a 

number of recommendations relating to organisational leadership, all of which have 

been achieved.  As a result, there is a new senior leadership team in place which has 

clearly created far stronger strategic capacity at the top of the organisation. A formal 

structure of formal and informal meetings has been created to facilitate strategic 

conversations between senior members and senior officers.  These conversations 

have enabled the development of better collaboration at an early stage of policy and 

plan development leading to the production of agreed priorities and plans.   

Page 27

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/lga-research-report-headline-report-bar-charts?mod-area=E07000082&mod-group=CIPFA_Near_Neighbours&mod-type=comparisonGroupType


 

10 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Based on the high levels of trust and respect that the peer team witnessed, the 

frequency of informal meetings could now be reduced to release capacity of the senior 

leadership team so that they can focus on delivery of the agreed priorities.   

Member and officer relationships at SDC are good and this is demonstrated right from 

the top. The peer team heard of the strong relationship between the Leader and Chief 

Executive which embodies the characteristics of strong and purposeful leadership. 

This means they both, working within their own political and managerial leadership 

remits, work effectively across the range of political groups – no mean feat.  SDC is 

led by a Political Alliance that has been in operation for ten years.  Members and 

officers work well together in this complex political landscape however, it naturally 

takes energy and resource to do so.    

SDC could consider maximising links to the county council by using dual hatted 

councillors.  This would help to strengthen the political relationship between the two 

authorities.  There is evidence that this is happening, but it could be built on with more 

cross party working.   

Partners reported the council’s genuine desire to work with them and referenced a 

change of culture that has taken place at SDC with the arrival of the chief executive in 

2018, which has resulted in a rekindling of partnership working and a significant 

increase in engagement to achieve good outcomes for SDC and other partners too.  

The increased engagement, a desire to promote Stroud and work effectively with 

partners has been supported by the Leader, who also works on national bodies to 

represent Stroud and Local Government. Notable examples of effective partnerships 

include the joint procurement of a digital platform with Cheltenham Borough Council 

and joining the One Legal partnership. Partners fed back that they welcome the 

different views and insights that come from SDC and that a range of political and 

officer views are beneficial to productive partnerships. 

The council has a growing regional and national profile, and it is developing a good 

reputation, for example, in respect of climate change, regeneration and its proactive 

approach to tackling equality, diversity and inclusion.  Given this, SDC is well 

respected by partners, and they are keen to see the council continue to develop this 

leadership of place.   

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

11 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

The pandemic highlighted the importance of the relationship with town and parish 

councils in the sharing of information, requests for support and additional capacity. 

Improvements have already been made to these relationships, and this is being 

consolidated with the introduction of the Working Together project which will look to 

agree, develop, and implement a new strategic approach for partnership working.  

Regular meetings are now being arranged, along with the development of a charter 

setting out what town and parish councils can expect from the district council in respect 

of communications.  SDC is now recognising the value of town and parish councils as 

community champions and development of a charter will help to provide some 

consistency in the approach to partnership working.  Whilst the Working Together 

project is a positive step, town and parish councils are ready to build on the current 

relationships they have with the council, and SDC should consider picking up the pace 

of delivery of this work. Additionally, continuing and enhancing the regular forums - 

perhaps with a theme based focus - will support the development of the Charter with 

Town and Parish Councils. 

There is a clear commitment from conversations with the Political Alliance and senior 

management team to put communities at the heart of everything the council does.  It is 

also captured in the mission statement for the FFF programme. However, the 

methodology to achieve this is not consistently understood across all council services 

and the peer team think the council would do well to reflect on how it might best achieve 

this.  Providing clarity on the council’s intentions, focus and outcomes required will help 

to progress and promote implementation across the council and should result in tangible 

improvements within the district communities.   

Many staff told us that the council provided good support to them during the pandemic.  

Particular reference was made to the introduction of Wellbeing Ambassadors and the 

caring approach of the senior leadership team throughout. A culture of empowerment 

rather than “command and control” is beginning to be felt within the council following the 

arrival of the chief executive in 2018 and the significant culture change programme she 

has driven. It was clear to the peer team that Heads of Service and staff feel trusted and 

empowered, by political and officer senior leadership. A Hybrid Working policy has been 

introduced which is positive, however the peer team felt that staff may also welcome a 

more considered framework of structure and guidance around the requirements that will 

now, and into the future, be made of them about attendance in the work place for 

Page 29

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

12 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

example, to give consistency across the council whilst still allowing for managers and 

teams to work in the ways that best suit them.  

An Equality, Diversity and Inclusion plan has been developed.  Representatives from 

the Youth Council told the team of the meaningful engagement that had taken place 

with them as the plan was developed and how they felt their voices had been heard.  

The EDI plan is welcomed, it has staff buy in and there are equalities champions across 

the council whose responsibilities include promoting and raising awareness of EDI 

issues, ensuring EDI is an integral element of the council’s strategies and policies and 

facilitating organisational change in response to EDI issues.  There is a member/officer 

Equalities Working Group to monitor progress against the EDI action plan. These 

activities supporting the EDI agenda are seen as positive both internally and externally. 

The Community is being consulted and engaged in finding answers on how to deal with 

challenging historical contexts. For example, the Black Boy statue in Stroud, and street 

names linked to colonial or slave trade histories.  

4.3. Governance and culture 

The recommendations relating to governance and culture arising from the 2019 Action 

Plan have been addressed with the introduction of structured meetings at a strategic 

level and the creation of a Forward Plan which allows members and officers to review 

decisions and the development of key projects and policy at an early stage. 

The peer team heard that relations between members and officers are generally good.  

A Protocol for Member and Officer Relations was adopted in May 2020.  The 

overriding principle of that Protocol is for members and officers to recognise and 

respect one another’s different roles and responsibilities.  It is worth reflecting on that 

principle, as it is well recognised that the best performing councils have clarity around 

those separate roles and do not allow them to become blurred.   

A Corporate Policy and Governance team has been introduced.  This team sits 

centrally and incorporates the previously separate functions of Democratic Services, 

Elections and Executive Support.  Formation of this team has added emphasis to the 

effective production of council policies and essential frameworks and structures for the 

sound operation of the council. 

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

13 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

The One Council philosophy is reflected in the way that the senior leadership team 

operates.  They operate corporately with the Council’s, rather than departmental, 

interests at heart. This is mirrored by cross party working and good relationships 

between members.  There is cross council collaboration on projects and staff reported 

positive experiences of services working together.  This has been inhibited by remote 

working but now that hybrid working has been rolled out, there is an opportunity for 

structured in person sessions which will help to build on these positive experiences.    

There is evidence of good cross - service working at Head of Service level; there is 

now an opportunity to build on this by allowing this group of senior leaders more 

opportunity to develop their own agenda for how they work more closely together to 

embed the ‘One Council’ ethos. 

The peer team heard that the chief executive and senior leadership team are open and 

well respected and model the cultural change that they want to see.  The next stage is 

to ensure that this infuses across the rest of the council and thought should be given to 

how best to achieve this as we come out of the pandemic. 

The council has an effective governance model in place and operates a committee 

system.  SDC had a number of new members at the most recent election and to 

become a new councillor working within the restrictions imposed by the pandemic 

must have been challenging.  New members in particular may benefit from a co-

designed programme of ongoing training and support to help them find their place in 

the council.  The creation of a cross party Member Development Group supported by 

the Corporate Policy and Governance team would help to coordinate and prioritise 

training, not just at Induction, encourage member attendance at training events and 

embrace the protocol for member officer relations.                                           

4.4. Financial planning and management 

The council has strong financial leadership.  It has demonstrated effective stewardship 

and grip of its resources.  A balanced budget has been set for 2022/23.   

This strength of approach has also been demonstrated through Covid 19 with 

monitoring of costs and pressures developed and appropriate provision made for 

future costs.  There was regular reporting to members during 2020/21 to ensure 

transparency and member involvement, resulting in members being sighted at all 

Page 31

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

14 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

times on the challenges faced by the council and the mitigating actions taken. 

The recent budget consultation exercise was purposeful, engagement with members 

was strong and the council now has a good platform from which to go forward with its 

Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).  

Budget reporting and engagement with members is reported as good, members know 

and understand the council’s financial position, challenges, and opportunities and are 

clearly well sighted and engaged with.    

The council has built a strong reserve base that will help support and smooth its future 

plans over the period of the MTFP.  The council consistently achieves an unqualified 

audit opinion. 

The FFF modernisation programme has been designed to improve the efficiency and 

effectiveness of the council.  As a consequence, financial savings have been highlighted.  

Aligning the FFF programme and the MTFP will be useful to ensure that the progress of 

the FFF programme enables delivery of the financial savings in the MTFP. 

Given the experiences of the last two years, a number of councils have seen slippage 

of delivery of their capital programme.  SDC is one such council and the council would 

do well to keep this under review.  Monitoring and review will be important for all 

significant projects, for example, clarity on the council’s approach to funding of retrofit 

and new homes and acquisitions in terms of impact on funding needed for ongoing 

repairs and maintenance. 

4.5. Capacity for improvement 

The council is on a journey of improvement, and it has ambitious plans for the future.  At 

the same time, it is important to take stock and reflect too; unsurprisingly for example, 

senior members and staff fed back that staff have worked hard, particularly during the 

pandemic, and some teams are tired.  The council should now take a pause and reflect 

before progressing ahead, planning for the delivery of the actions and activities to 

support the agreed strategies.  To ensure success, the council needs to agree a set of 

prioritised activities that are deliverable within the resources and capacity that it can 

harness and ensure a strong programme management culture underpins its work to 

avoid scope creep, the distraction of other tasks being added and keeps solely focussed 

on what it has agreed needs to be delivered. 

Page 32

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

15 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

The peer team heard reports of residents and businesses having difficulty accessing 

the council and its services during the pandemic and the customer contact/access 

systems were criticised by a number of people.  There is an opportunity here to reset 

the role of Customer Services, the first point of contact at the council, to make it more 

efficient, corporate, and centralised – this is a core focus for the FFF programme. By 

taking a corporate rather than departmental approach to customer services, consistent 

performance standards can be set and maintained which will result in better feedback 

from residents and businesses.  

The peer team heard about the role and work of the Neighbourhood Wardens and how 

they are clearly a valuable resource, providing a visible presence across the district 

and acting as the eyes and ears of the community.   We didn’t review their role or 

potential in detail, but we did wonder whether, as part of its ‘One Council’ approach, 

there could be the potential to harness the added value these staff bring, for example 

by working more closely with the housing teams and other community and front-line 

staff so that the residents see a fully joined up service from council staff. 

As part of the Connected Communities workstream of the FFF programme, the council 

is developing a Community Engagement Strategy to facilitate positive collaboration 

with communities across the district.  It will be important for the strategy to be used to 

enhance and develop neighbourhood arrangements, to support council ambitions and 

help build community capacity, and to enable the community to have some influence in 

council decisions.  The Community Engagement Strategy should link back to the 

Council Plan and the 2030 Strategy and should be an enabler to those key council 

plans and strategies.   

The council has purposefully established a range of joint arrangements in place that 

have built capacity and resilience. These include Ubico, a partnership for waste and 

recycling collections, One Legal and the joint procurement of the IT platform. Given 

this positive stance, the peer team felt that there may be further opportunities to 

explore which could include, for example, the future plans for leisure provision. The 

peer team heard from partners across all sectors that they are keen to see SDC 

continue a leadership of place role. 

One of the actions from the 2019 Action Plan referred to ensuring the integrity of the IT 

system.  This is a medium term action which is well on the way to being achieved.   

Page 33

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

16 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

The peer team heard only positive comments about IT at the council.  IT systems will 

be the foundation for the transformation programme, and a new digital platform is 

being jointly procured.  This digital platform will help to develop one view of the 

‘customer’, but it will be important to apply a collaborative approach and for services to 

share their data if the benefits are going to be fully realised. 

4.6. Response to Covid 

The peer team heard that SDC is a friendly and efficient council and that throughout 

the pandemic the council worked to distribute grants to businesses and did not miss a 

bin collection. 

Whilst the tactical response to the pandemic was clearly and importantly multi agency, 

the council very much played its full part.  District councils were seen by county wide 

partners as the ‘real backbone’ of the response.  This coordinated county-wide effort, 

along with effective cross party working and external communications throughout the 

pandemic, focused resources and provided a more valuable response by working 

together for the benefit of the residents and businesses of Stroud district.   

The actions taken by the council throughout the pandemic to support community 

resilience were regarded as positive.  The Community Hubs Development project will 

build on that positivity and ultimately improve cross sector working and collaboration. 

In improving that cross sector collaboration across the district, town and parish 

councils should not be left behind.  The council could give thought to the role of town 

and parish councils during an emergency response.  This could be a theme for 

discussion in the Working Together forum as mentioned earlier in this report and could 

provide capacity for SDC whilst cementing the position of the town/parish council as a 

valued part of their respective communities. 

Whilst responding to the pandemic will have impacted on all services across the 

council, the peer team particularly heard positive feedback on the role of teams in 

Environmental Health and Revenues and Benefits. This included translating complex 

guidelines and rules from government for businesses, and then enforcing them (e.g. “a 

substantial meal”) and working around the clock and over weekends to get business 

grants to local businesses to help them stay afloat. 

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

17 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Internally, staff have universally reported to the peer team that they felt very well 

supported during the pandemic in terms of their health and wellbeing.  Now that staff 

are beginning to return to the office, more guidance on the implementation of the 

hybrid working policy will help to build confidence about returning and consistency 

amongst office based staff, all of which will help the ‘One Council’ culture to embed 

across the organisation. 

4.7. Council Plan and delivery ambitions 

As expected for a council that embraces improvement, the Council Plan adopted in 

October 2021 is ambitious, as is the FFF modernisation programme.  The council 

would do well to just consider its organisational capacity to deliver against the agreed 

timescales within the Plan.  Whilst the council wants to be flexible in its approach to 

issues as they arise, it will be important to focus on delivering the actions that support 

the agreed priorities and not allow requests for additional activities to divert attention 

and resources, putting the delivery of the Plan priorities at risk. 

The council has introduced a Performance Management Framework that will use data 

to support delivery of the priorities within the Plan. Performance Management reports 

will be created that evidence progress against delivery of priorities, and the peer team 

heard that the first such report is about to be presented to the appropriate Committee.  

Publication of these reports in the public arena will improve transparency and assist 

residents in holding the council to account.  Member involvement in the process via 

the appropriate Committees is critical to monitor progress and performance. Working 

jointly, members and the senior leadership team will ensure successful delivery of the 

Plan as the senior leadership team will be able to allocate resources appropriately.   

The FFF modernisation programme is beginning to be rolled out.  The programme has 

absorbed the remaining activities to support the recommendations from the 2019 Action 

Plan relating to IT and workforce planning.  Whilst the peer team heard of the rationale 

behind the programme, they also heard from a number of staff who, whilst keen to see 

the programme rolled out, have concerns about their capacity to deliver at the same time 

as taking care of the ‘day job’.  Staff will need to be supported in managing priorities and 

workloads to ensure service levels are maintained and staff wellbeing is protected. 

However, these are exciting times for the Council and FFF should be embraced as an 

opportunity to keep the council at the forefront of local authority innovation. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

18 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

The FFF programme should align with the Council Plan, 2030 Strategy and the 

Medium Term Financial Plan.  Clearly, achieving the above will be easier if there is a 

clear internal communications plan, and this should all be informed by the Community 

Engagement Strategy.  Any future updates to the Council Plan should reference/align 

with the FFF programme.  Indeed, it will be important that all the plans and strategies 

align so that there is a single version of the truth for council priorities, progress against 

delivery, resource implications, budget position and how they are all interlinked. 

 

5. Next steps 
 

It is recognised that senior political and managerial leadership will want to consider, 

discuss, and reflect on these findings.  

Both the peer team and LGA are keen to build on the relationships formed through the 

peer challenge. The CPC process includes a six-month check-in session, which 

provides space for the council’s senior leadership to update peers on its progress 

against the action plan and discuss next steps. 

In the meantime, Paul Clarke, Principal Adviser for the South West, is the main contact 

between your authority and the Local Government Association. Paul is available to 

discuss any further support the council requires. paul.clarke@local.gov.uk. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:paul.clarke@local.gov.uk

	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	Minutes

	11 LGA CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE REVISIT FEEDBACK REPORT
	Stroud District Council CPC feedback report Final


